1992

Utah v. Rochell : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether or not the evidence seized from the warrantless search of the defendant is admissible?
2. Whether or not Trooper Maycock's detention of the defendant exceeded the scope of the initial traffic stop and was not justified by a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity?
3. Whether or not seizure of cocaine from defendant and his motor vehicle was obtained by wrongful exploitation and therefore not admissible?
4. Whether or not Trooper Maycock had probable cause to search defendant's motor vehicle?

STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

The standard of review is the same for all issues presented by this appeal. In reviewing a trial court's decision to grant or deny a motion to suppress, findings of fact will not be disturbed

unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Steward, 806 P. 2d 213, 215 (Utah App. 1991). However, in reviewing the trial court's conclusions of law, the appellate court applies a correction of error standard. Steward, 806 P. 2d at 215.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS,
STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND RULES

1. Article I, Section 14 of the State of Utah Constitution
2. Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution
3. Section 41-6-44.20(2) Utah Code Annotated, as amended
4. Section 77-7-16 Utah Code Annotated, as amended

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the case. This is a criminal case involving an appeal from a final judgment of conviction and sentence of a third degree felony, Possession of a Controlled Substance, to wit: cocaine, of the District Court of Davis County, Utah.

2. Course of proceedings. The State of Utah filed on October 4, 1991 an Information charging defendant Jeffrey M. Rochell with Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Distribute, a second degree felony; Unlawful Possession of Cocaine without Tax Stamps Affixed, a third degree felony; and speeding, a class C misdemeanor, all alleged to have occurred on June 5, 1991

in Davis County, Utah.

On February 24, 1992 defendant filed a Motion to Suppress, together with accompanying Memorandum of Law, seeking to suppress both baggies of cocaine seized by a state trooper. One baggie was seized from Defendant's person and the second baggie was taken from his motor vehicle.

A suppression hearing was held on March 18, 1992 before District Judge Douglas L. Cornaby. Utah Highway Patrol Trooper David V. Maycock was called as a witness by the plaintiff, State of Utah. At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court made its findings of fact and concluded the trooper could search defendant prior to searching his vehicle. The trial court found it was reasonable that all evidence could be received into evidence and denied Defendant's Motion to Suppress. Written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were later filed on June 12, 1992.

On April 14, 1992 defendant petitioned the trial court for a review of the trial court's decision arising out of the suppression hearing based on State v. Lovegren, 183 Utah Adv. Rep 81, (Utah App. 1992) published April 7, 1992. The trial court after reviewing Lovegren denied defendant's motion to reverse its ruling and refused to suppress the evidence pursuant to a written ruling filed April 15, 1992.

On April 15, 1992 Defendant Rochell entered a conditional guilty plea to Possession of a Controlled Substance, Cocaine, a third degree felony before District Judge Douglas L. Cornaby.

On May 12, 1992 Defendant Rochell was sentenced by District

Judge Douglas L. Cornaby to the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term, not to exceed five (5) years. Defendant was granted a Stay of Execution, placed on probation upon the condition he serve thirty (30) days in the Davis County Jail, fined \$500 together with surcharge of \$467.50, and complete the usual and ordinary conditions required by the Department of Adult Probation and Parole. Judgment of the trial court was entered on June 2, 1992.

On May 14, 1992 defendant filed a Notice of Appeal with the Davis County Clerk's office appealing to the Utah Court of Appeals Defendant Rochell's conviction of a Third Degree felony, Possession of a Controlled Substance. Contemporaneous with filing the Notice of Appeal Defendant filed an Application for Certificate of Probable Cause and Certificate of Probable Cause. The Certificate of Probable Cause was signed by District Judge Douglas L. Cornaby on May 15, 1992 staying execution of Defendant's sentence pending Defendant's appeal.

On June 4, 1992 Defendant filed an Amended Notice of Appeal to properly perfect his appeal as Judgment was entered on June 2, 1992 with the Davis County Clerk's office.

3. Disposition at Trial Court. On March 18, 1992, District Judge Douglas L. Cornaby denied defendant's Motion to Suppress. On April 15, 1992 the trial court denied defendant's motion to review its prior ruling based on State v. Lovegren, 183 Utah Adv. Rep 81 (Utah App. 1992) published on April 7, 1992. On April 15, 1992 defendant entered a conditional guilty plea to the charge of

Possession of a Controlled Substance, a third degree felony. On May 12, 1992 Defendant was sentenced by District Judge Douglas L. Cornaby. On May 14, 1992 Defendant filed a Notice of Appeal and on June 4, 1992 filed an Amended Notice of Appeal.

4. Statement of Relevant Facts. On June 5, 1991 Defendant Rochell was observed by Trooper David V. Maycock driving a Mustang motor vehicle northbound on I-15 near the St. Joseph's area in North Salt Lake City (Tr. p.3). Trooper Maycock's visual observation indicated Defendant was travelling at 65 miles per hour (Tr. p.3). His visual observation was confirmed by radar which he locked in at 65 miles per hour (Tr. p.3). Defendant was traveling 10 miles per hour over the posted speed limited of 55 mph (Tr. p.6).

The offense took place at 8:15 p.m., it was a clear day and the sun was up (Tr. p.11). The driver, Jeffrey W. Rochell, acted in an appropriate manner when pulled over by Trooper Maycock (Tr. p.12). He did not attempt to elude, evade or otherwise flee (Tr. p. 12).

The Defendant upon stopping exited his vehicle and walked back toward the Trooper's vehicle (Tr. p.12). Defendant Rochell and Trooper Maycock met at a point between their vehicles (Tr. p.4). The Defendant did not appear angry, argumentative, or nervous (Tr. p.13). Defendant upon request produced a valid driver's license (Tr. p.13).

Trooper Maycock, standing approximately arm's length from defendant, detected the odor of alcohol about Defendant. (Tr. p.13,

14). Trooper Maycock requested Defendant to perform the horizontal gaze nystagmus field sobriety test (Tr. p.14). Trooper Maycock observed no clues as a result of the test that Defendant was intoxicated (Tr. p.4). As a result, Trooper Maycock did not cite Defendant for driving under the influence of alcohol. (Tr. p.15).

During the field sobriety test, Trooper Maycock stood at least an arm's length distance from Defendant in order to track the movement of Defendant's eyes (Tr. p.15). During the entire encounter with Defendant no suspicious or dangerous movements were made toward or observed by Trooper Maycock (Tr. p.16). Trooper Maycock, upon initially confronting Defendant, and at the time of the field sobriety test, did not frisk Defendant Rochell as he felt no need to do so (Tr. p.16).

Trooper Maycock asked Defendant to produce the registration for his vehicle (Tr. p.16). The registration was in the vehicle's glove box (Tr. p.17). Defendant walked from their location to his vehicle and reached into the glove box (Tr. p.17). Trooper Maycock did not search the glove box or vehicle prior to allowing Defendant to reach into the glove box (Tr. p. 17). The Defendant made no gestures that he might be reaching for a weapon (Tr. p.17, 18). Defendant produced a valid registration to his vehicle (Tr. p.18). Trooper Maycock later confirmed the validity of Defendant's license and registration and that there were no outstanding warrants for Defendant through his dispatcher (Tr. p.20, 21).

When Defendant Rochell opened the passenger door to obtain his registration a blue cup containing an alcoholic beverage fell onto

the ground (Tr. p.19). The passenger in the vehicle identified himself as Billy G. Miller, but had no identification on him (Tr. p.5). While confronting the passenger, Trooper Maycock looked inside the vehicle but did not observe any objects of concern to him (Tr. p.19). No second open container of alcohol was observed by Trooper Maycock (Tr. p.20).

Trooper Maycock asked Defendant if he understood Utah's open container law and received an affirmative reply (Tr. p.20). Defendant was asked to return to his vehicle, and Trooper Maycock took with him Defendant's driver's license and registration to his patrol car (Tr. p.20). Trooper Maycock wrote two citations, one to Defendant for speeding 65 mph in a 55 mph zone and no seat belt and the other citation to co-defendant Billy G. Miller for open container (Tr. p.21, 22). During this period of time, Defendant was detained and not free to leave (Tr. p.21). Approximately 15 minutes had elapsed to this point in time from when Defendant was stopped. (Tr. p.22).

After citing the Defendant and passenger, Trooper Maycock intended to search them and the vehicle (Tr. p.23, 24). After completing the citations Trooper Maycock approached Defendant's vehicle a second time (Tr. p.22). Trooper Maycock asked them both to step out of their vehicle and join him at the front of their vehicle (Tr. p.22).

Neither party had done anything to indicate to Trooper Maycock they were armed and dangerous (Tr. p.22). Trooper Maycock had formed the intent to search the driver's immediate area in the

vehicle for another open container (Tr. p.23). Trooper Maycock was not searching the vehicle for weapons or drugs (Tr. p.23, 24).

At the time Trooper Maycock asked Defendant Rochell and Billy G. Miller to join him at the front of their vehicle he had formed the intent to search their person (Tr. p.24). Nothing had alerted him to the fact that either may be armed and dangerous (Tr. p.24). Trooper Maycock asked them if they had any weapons on them. Both responded they did not (Tr. p.27). Billy G. Miller voluntarily opened his pockets and offered everything in his pockets and turned around to show Trooper Maycock his beltline to reveal no weapons (Tr. p.7).

Trooper Maycock directed his attention to Defendant (Tr. p.7). He noticed a bulge in Defendant's left front pocket of his shorts, a fairly large bulge (Tr. p.8). Trooper Maycock could not tell what the bulge was but it appeared to be 3 1/2 inches by 1 1/2 inches to 2 inches and 1 to 1 1/2 inches thick (Tr. p. 31, 34). Trooper Maycock could not tell what the object was only that it was hard after tapping it with his fingers (Tr. p.32, 8). Defendant put his hand in his front left pocket and pulled out a set of keys (Tr. p.8). Trooper Maycock observed there was still something in Defendant's pocket and tapped it again (Tr. p.8). Trooper Maycock asked the Defendant "What is that?" (Tr. p.32). Defendant reached into his pocket a second time and pulled out some change and in the course of doing that partially exposed a plastic baggie (Tr. p.32, 9). Trooper Maycock asked him "What's that baggie?" (Tr. p.9). Defendant put his hand back into his pocket, rustled around again,

pulled his hand out of his pocket and put it behind his back (Tr. p.9). At that time, Officer Garrido, North Salt Lake Police, approaching defendant from the rear, reached out and grabbed the baggy containing a white powdery substance (Tr. p.9, 10). Officer Garrido had radioed Trooper Maycock, while Trooper Maycock was writing out the citations in his patrol car, to determine his location in order to return Trooper Maycock's handcuffs (Tr. p.6).

Defendant Rochell was arrested by Trooper Maycock after Officer Garrido took the baggie from him (Tr. p.10). After mirandizing Defendant inquiry was made if there was any other dope in the vehicle (Tr. p.10). Trooper Maycock found a second baggie between the cushions of the passenger seat where the riser meets the runner (Tr. p.33). Trooper Maycock admitted discovery of the first baggie from Defendant led to discovery of the second baggie in the vehicle (Tr. p. 32).

When asked why Trooper Maycock simply did not request Officer Garrido to watch Defendant and his passenger while he searched the vehicle Trooper Maycock responded he did not want any assisting officer to be hurt (Tr. p.29).

Trooper Maycock also admitted he could have cited Defendant Rochell for open container in addition to speeding and no seat belt as Defendant allowed a passenger to have an open container in his vehicle (Tr. p.30). Trooper Maycock responded that legally he could have issued Defendant a citation for an open container but morally he did not feel it was correct unless Defendant Rochell actually had an open container (Tr. p.30, 31).

No second open container was located after search of defendant's motor vehicle by Trooper Maycock and Officer Garrido (Tr. p.25).

Trooper Maycock testified his probable cause to search defendant's vehicle for a second open container was that he detected the driver and passenger to both have an odor of alcohol on their breath but he had only observed one open container of alcohol in the vehicle; i.e, the blue cup that fell to the ground (Tr. p.24, 25).

The trial court estimated approximately 15 to 25 minutes had elapsed from the time Defendant's vehicle was stopped until defendant was searched (Tr. p.46).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A peace officer may frisk a person for dangerous weapons if he reasonably believes he or any other person is in danger. This is a narrowly drawn exception to the constitutional protection that all warrantless searches are per se unreasonable. A peace officer may pat down an individual to neutralize the threat of harm when he possesses specific, articulable facts that such person may be armed and dangerous. Anything beyond such a brief intrusion to check for weapons constitutes a de facto arrest and probable cause to search is required.

Trooper Maycock did not initially frisk Defendant evidencing no fear or suspicion Defendant was armed and dangerous. After the

citation was prepared, and 15 to 25 minutes had elapsed, Trooper Maycock ordered defendant from his vehicle to search him prior to searching his vehicle for a open container of alcohol. Neither Defendant nor his passenger had done anything to indicate to Trooper Maycock they were armed or dangerous prior to his search of Defendant (Tr. p.22). Therefore, the frisk of Defendant Rochell prior to searching the vehicle was not for dangerous weapons based upon a reasonable belief or suspicion and therefore not permitted by Terry v. Ohio or section 77-7-16 U.C.A., as amended. Secondly, Trooper Maycock's detention of Defendant Rochell after preparing the traffic citations exceeded the scope of the initial traffic stop and was not further justified by a reasonable suspicion of serious criminal activity. A peace officer's stop of a motor vehicle is a seizure subject to constitutional protection. A traffic stop is a limited seizure and is more like an investigative detention than a custodial arrest. The issue of whether the investigative detention was reasonable, as governed by Terry v. Ohio, involves two tests:

- (1) Was Trooper Maycock's action justified initially?, and
- (2) Was Trooper Maycock's action reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified his initial stop?

Trooper Maycock properly stopped Defendant Rochell for speeding 65 mph in a 55 mph zone. However, observation of one open container with both occupants of the vehicle with alcohol on their breath does not justify nor give Trooper Maycock reasonable articulable suspicion of serious criminal activity beyond the

initial traffic offense justifying further detention of defendant and his later arrest.

Third, seizure of the controlled substance from Defendant's motor vehicle was obtained by illegal exploitation and therefore not lawfully seized. Defendant Rochell's admission and disclosure of a second baggie of cocaine in his vehicle was unlawfully obtained following Trooper Maycock's illegal seizure of cocaine from Defendant. The State of Utah must show Defendant's consent to search his vehicle was (1) voluntary and (2) not obtained by exploitation of the prior illegality. Evidence obtained in searches following police illegality must meet both tests to be admissible. Defendant's consent to search was sufficiently tainted from the illegal seizure of the controlled substance from his pocket. The consent occurred during an ongoing illegal seizure, thus no time factor nor other intervening factors separated the illegality from the consent. Defendant's consent to search was the result of the exploitation of his illegal detention and illegal search of his person.

Finally, Trooper Maycock did not have reasonable articulable suspicion or probable cause to search Defendant or his motor vehicle. Trooper Maycock did not have reasonable articulable suspicion of serious criminal activity or probable cause justifying further detention of Defendant after preparation of the citations for speeding, no seat belt and open container. The fact that Defendant may have been hesitant in his responses to Trooper Maycock's questioning when standing in front of his vehicle does

not support a reasonable suspicion of serious criminal activity or probable cause. Nor does the fact that the Trooper discovered only one open container of alcohol. The Trooper's hunch, without more, does not raise a reasonable articulable suspicion. The fact that both occupants had alcohol on their breath does not indicate there is other alcohol in the vehicle. Trooper Maycock could have cited Defendant Rochell for an open container violation but chose to search his vehicle for other evidence.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE: THE WARRANTLESS SEARCH OF DEFENDANT ROCHELL WAS UNLAWFUL AS THERE EXISTED NO REASONABLE BASIS TO BELIEVE DEFENDANT WAS ARMED AND PRESENTLY DANGEROUS WHEN HE WAS FRISKED

A peace officer, pursuant to section 77-7-16, U.C.A., as amended may frisk a person for dangerous weapons if he reasonably believes he or any other person is in danger. State v. Roybol, 716 P.2d 291, 292 (Utah 1986). The Utah statute is subject to and interpreted in light of the constitutional requirements of Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed. 2d 889 (1968). In Terry, the Supreme Court established a narrowly drawn exception to the requirement that police obtain a warrant for all searches. Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment, subject to only a few specifically established exceptions. State v. Ashe, 745 P.2d 1255 (Utah 1987), Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357, 88 S. Ct. 507, 514, 19 L.Ed. 2d 576 (1967).

One exception to the warrant requirement permits an officer to

pat down a person for weapons when he reasonably suspects that such person may be armed and dangerous based upon specific and articulable facts. Terry v. Ohio at 21, 88 S. Ct. at 1879. The standard is whether a reasonably prudent man under the circumstances would believe that his safety or that of others was in jeopardy. State v. Roybol, supra. A brief check for weapons is permissible but anything beyond such a brief and narrowly defined intrusion constitutes a de facto arrest, and probable cause is required. Dunaway v. New York, 442 U.S. 200, 99 S. Ct. 2248, 2254 (1979).

Trooper Maycock did not initially frisk Defendant Rochell upon confronting him and during the time of the horizontal gaze nystagmus as he felt no need to do so (Tr. p.16). This fact strongly suggests that once Defendant exited his vehicle and stood within arm's length of Trooper Maycock the trooper did not suspect he was armed and dangerous. Prior to the actual frisk and search of Defendant, some 15 to 25 minutes after the initial stop, neither Defendant nor his passenger had done anything to suggest they were armed and dangerous (Tr. p.22). Therefore, the frisk and pat down of Defendant Rochell prior to searching his vehicle was not for dangerous weapons based upon a reasonable belief or suspicion permitted by Terry v. Ohio, supra or section 77-7-16 U.C.A., as amended.

POINT TWO: TROOPER MAYCOCK'S DETENTION OF DEFENDANT ROCHELL EXCEEDED THE SCOPE OF THE TRAFFIC STOP AND WAS NOT JUSTIFIED BY A REASONABLE SUSPICION OF CRIMINAL ACTIVITY

A police officer's stop of a vehicle is a seizure subject to fourth amendment protections. Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 653, 99 S. Ct. 1391, 1396 (1979); State v. Steward, 806 P.2d 213, 215 (Utah App. 1991). A traffic stop is a limited seizure and is more like an investigative detention than a custodial arrest. United States v. Walker, 933 F.2d 812, 815 (10th Civ. 1991). In Terry v. Ohio, supra, the Supreme Court ruled the Fourth Amendment does not prohibit all seizures, but only unreasonable ones. To determine if a seizure is reasonable two questions must be asked: (1) Was Trooper Maycock's action initially justified?, and (2) Was Trooper Maycock's action reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the interference in the first place? State v. Robinson, 797 P.2d 431, 435 (Utah App. 1990); State v. Parker, 189 Utah Adv. Rep 3 (Utah App. 1992).

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