1992

Utah v. Rochell : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's determination of reasonableness with respect to the protective frisk and the scope of the detention is not clearly erroneous. Concerning the officer's protective frisk, the officer's observation of a noticeable bulge in defendant's pocket reasonably gave rise to his suspicion that defendant was armed and potentially dangerous. The reasonableness of the officer's fear is not overcome by the fact that defendant and his passenger were outside the vehicle at the time of the frisk; moreover, as recently recognized by this Court, roadside traffic stops are inherently dangerous. Additionally, the protective frisk was no more intrusive than necessary to dispel or confirm the officer's suspicion of a concealed weapon.

As for the scope of the detention beyond the initial purposes of the traffic stop, the officer had at least a reasonable suspicion that defendant and his passenger were involved in other more serious criminal activity. During the course of investigating defendant's driver's license the officer smelled alcohol on the breath of both men and defendant admitted to having had one beer. Additionally, the officer observed an open container of alcohol fall from the passenger compartment when defendant attempted to retrieve the vehicle registration. Considering the totality of the circumstances, further detention was justified to investigate for consumption of alcohol while driving.

The trial court's conclusion that the subsequent search of defendant's vehicle was justified as incident to his arrest was similarly proper and should be affirmed. Defendant was arrested following the protective frisk which revealed the presence of contraband on his person. Contemporaneous with his arrest for possession of a controlled substance (cocaine), defendant's vehicle was searched for additional contraband. Because the contraband found on defendant's person provided probable cause for his arrest independent of the contraband later seized from his vehicle and because defendant's vehicle was within his immediate control at the time of his arrest, the contraband found therein was admissible.

Finally, because the vehicle search was justified as incident to defendant's arrest, there is no need to consider whether the search would be justified under the "automobile exception," or any other exception to the warrant requirement. Although defendant challenges the vehicle search on the ground that his consent was not sufficiently attenuated from alleged prior illegalities, he failed to preserve any argument concerning his consent in the trial court and has thus waived its consideration on appeal. As for defendant's additional allegations of taint stemming from the protective frisk and the scope of detention, he has failed to demonstrate that either the protective frisk or the detention were improper. Thus, it is not necessary for the State, or this Court, to engage in a taint analysis.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE OFFICER'S PROTECTIVE FRISK WAS SUPPORTED
BY A REASONABLE SUSPICION THAT DEFENDANT WAS
ARMED AND DANGEROUS

In Point I of his brief defendant asserts that because Trooper Maycock "did not initially frisk [him] upon confronting him," nor during the course of administering a subsequent field sobriety test, the officer could not have reasonably suspected that he was "armed and dangerous" (Br. of Appellant [App.] at 15). As support for his assertion defendant argues that "some 15 to 25 minutes after the initial stop, neither [he] nor his passenger had done anything to suggest they were armed and dangerous" (Br. of App. at 15). Because defendant's argument ignores the trial court's factual findings that the "officer noticed a bulge in defendant's left front pocket" (Addendum B), and that the officer reasonably "believed [the bulge to be] a knife or other weapon" (Addendum B), his argument lacks merit and should be rejected.

It is permissible for an officer "who reasonably suspects that an individual may be armed and dangerous, to pat down the outer clothing of that individual in a search for concealed objects which might be used as instruments of assault." State v. Ayala, 762 P.2d 1107, 1111 (Utah App.) (quotation omitted), cert. denied, 773 P.2d 45 (Utah 1989). See also State v. Bradford, No. 910282-CA, slip op. at 5 (Utah App. October 14, 1992); State v. Roybal, 716 P.2d 291, 292 (Utah 1986); Utah Code

Ann. § 77-7-16 (1990).⁴ The reasonableness of a protective frisk is assessed under an objective standard: "[W]ould the facts available to the officer at the moment of the seizure or the search warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief that the action taken was appropriate?" Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21-22 (1968) (quotation and citations omitted). See also Ayala, 762 P.2d at 1111 ("The standard is whether a reasonably prudent man under the circumstances would believe that his safety or that of others was in jeopardy"). Thus, it is not "essential" that the officer actually be in fear, or that he be absolutely certain that the suspect is armed. Roybal, 716 P.2d at 293.

Trooper Maycock's protective frisk was based on a reasonable suspicion that defendant was armed and dangerous. Determining that he should search the driver's side area of the vehicle for an additional open container,⁵ Trooper Maycock asked defendant and Miller to step away from the vehicle (T. 6). See State v. Schlosser, 774 P.2d 1132, 1135 (Utah 1989) (driver stopped for traffic violation may be ordered out of vehicle for purposes of officer safety); Roybal, 716 P.2d at 293-94 (recognizing "need of officers to take reasonable precautions to insure their safety"). After defendant and Miller exited the

⁴ Section 77-7-16 provides:

A peace officer who has stopped a person temporarily for questioning may frisk the person for a dangerous weapon if he reasonably believes he or any other person is in danger.

⁵ Defendant's allegations concerning the propriety of the vehicle search are addressed in Point IV of this brief.

vehicle, Trooper Maycock observed a "bulge" in the left front pocket of defendant's shorts, the dimensions of which reasonably led the officer to believe that defendant was concealing a type of pocket knife and that he should perform a protective frisk before searching the vehicle (T. 8).

As recently noted by this Court, "roadside traffic stops are particularly dangerous when weapons may be present in the area immediately surrounding a suspect." Bradford, No. 910282-CA, slip op. at 4. See also Michigan v. Long, 463 U.S. 1032, 1047-49 n.13 (1983) ("investigative detentions involving suspects in vehicles are especially fraught with danger to police officers," approximately 30% of police shootings occur when an officer approaches a suspect seated in a vehicle); State v. Johnson, 784 P.2d 1135, 1137 (Utah 1989) (officer shot without warning as he approached vehicle); 3 W. LaFare, *Search and Seizure*, § 9.4(a) n.26 (1987) (noting that more officers are shot while conducting field interrogations than while dealing with known felons and that 43% of officer shootings that occur pursuant to a vehicle stop, take place after the initial contact has been made). In Bradford, this Court further noted that "an officer's reasonable fear" is "not overcome" by the "the fact, taken in isolation, that a suspect is outside a vehicle while an officer is conducting a search." Id. at 5. See State v. Dorsey, 731 P.2d 1085, 1093 n.3 (Utah 1986) (Zimmerman, J., concurring) (rejecting defendant's contention that it was "unrealistic" for officers to fear that defendants presented a threat to their

safety since they were "standing by the rear of the truck under control of several officers holding drawn weapons"). See also Long, 463 U.S. at 1051 (rejecting a similar claim, reasoning that a suspect "despite being under the brief control of a police officer, [could] reach into his clothing and retrieve a weapon").

Additionally, the noticeable bulge in defendant's pocket reasonably supported Trooper Maycock's belief that defendant had access to a concealed weapon. Stout v. State, 304 Ark. 610, 804 S.W.2d 686, 689 (Ark. 1991) (protective frisk justified in order to determine that "obvious bulge" in suspect's jacket was not a weapon); United States v. Barnes, 909 F.2d 1059, 1067 n.10 (7th Cir. 1990) (protective frisk justified by officer's observation of a "heavy object" protruding from suspect's jacket pocket). See 3 W. LaFave, *Search and Seizure*, § 9.4(a) n.44-45 (1987 & Supp. 1992). Moreover, the officer's protective frisk was not overly intrusive, consisting of light taps on the outside of defendant's pocket. Terry, 392 U.S. at 6, 30 (upholding more aggressive frisk where the officer "grabbed petitioner Terry, spun him around . . . and patted down the outside of his clothing," on the ground that the frisk did not invade Terry's person beyond the outer surfaces of his clothes and was thus confined to what was minimally necessary to discover the suspected weapon).

In light of the foregoing, defendant's unsupported assertions fail to demonstrate that the trial court's determination of reasonable suspicion to conduct a frisk was

clearly erroneous. Ayala, 762 P.2d at 1111; Mendoza, 748 P.2d 181, 183 (Utah 1987). Based on his observations of the suspicious bulge in defendant's pocket, Trooper Maycock's protective frisk was reasonable. Additionally, his light taps on the outside of defendant's pocket were no more intrusive than necessary to confirm or dispel his suspicion. Terry, 392 U.S. at 19 n.15. Thus, this Court should affirm the trial court's determination that the officer's protective frisk was reasonable and proper under the fourth amendment.

POINT II

DEFENDANT'S DETENTION BEYOND THE INITIAL
PURPOSES OF THE TRAFFIC STOP WAS JUSTIFIED BY
THE OFFICER'S REASONABLE SUSPICION OF OTHER
MORE SERIOUS CRIMINAL ACTIVITY

In Point II of his brief defendant asserts that "Trooper Maycock's detention of [him] exceeded the scope of the traffic stop and was not justified by a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity" (Br. of App. at 15). Additionally, defendant asserts that "Trooper Maycock had no reason to search [him]," or his vehicle (Br. of App. at 17). As defendant's allegations concerning the reasonableness of the protective frisk are addressed in Point I of this brief, and his allegations concerning the propriety of the vehicle search will be addressed in Point IV of this brief, the State's response here will focus on the reasonableness of the detention. Defendant's arguments concerning the scope of his detention lack merit and should be rejected.

As recently observed by this Court, "[a]fter stopping a

vehicle for a traffic violation, an officer may briefly detain the vehicle and its occupants while he examines the vehicle registration and the driver's license." State v. Bradford, No. 910282-CA, slip op. at 3 (Utah App. October 14, 1992) (quotations and citations omitted). However, once the driver has produced a valid license and evidence of entitlement to use the vehicle, the occupants may not be further detained in the absence of a reasonable suspicion of other serious criminal activity. Id. at 3-4.

Defendant acknowledges that the stop of his vehicle for a traffic violation was justified at its inception (Br. of App. at 16). Specifically, Trooper Maycock stopped defendant's car for traveling sixty-five miles per hour in a fifty-five mile-per-hour zone (T. 3), a clear violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-46(2)(d) (Supp. 1992). See Bradford, No. 910282-CA, slip op. at 3 (police officer may stop a vehicle when the officer has witnessed the commission of a traffic violation). Defendant's detention beyond the initial purposes of the traffic stop was similarly justified based on observations by the officer during that time which gave rise to a reasonable suspicion of defendant's participation in other more serious criminal activity. Id. at 4.

During the course of his investigation Trooper Maycock smelled alcohol on both defendant's and Miller's breath, and defendant admitted that he had been drinking (T. 4, 6). Additionally, the officer observed an open container of alcohol

fall from the passenger side of the vehicle when defendant attempted to retrieve the vehicle registration from the glove compartment (T. 5). At the very least, these circumstances gave rise to a reasonable suspicion of alcohol use such that further detention to investigate for consumption of alcohol while driving was justified. See Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44.20(1) & (2) (Supp. 1992) (prohibiting consumption of alcoholic beverage or possession of an open container while in a motor vehicle on a highway). Considering the totality of the circumstances, it is hard to imagine what more an officer would need beyond the circumstances present here: the smell of alcohol on both defendant and his passenger, an open container of alcohol in the passenger compartment, and defendant's admission that he had been drinking. See Bradford, No. 910282-CA, slip op. at 5 (courts will engage in a totality of the circumstances analysis to determine whether there was a reasonable suspicion of criminality).

Although not directly so stating, the trial court implicitly determined that the scope of defendant's detention was supported by at least a reasonable suspicion of illegal conduct (Addendum B).⁶ Because defendant's unsupported assertions fail to demonstrate that the trial court's determination was clearly erroneous, this Court should affirm. State v. Robinson, 797 P.2d

⁶ In denying defendant's motion to suppress, the trial court concluded that Trooper Maycock "had *probable cause* to believe that another alcoholic beverage was in the vehicle" (Addendum B) (emphasis added).

431, 436-437 (Utah App. 1990); State v. Mendoza, 748 P.2d 181, 183 (Utah 1987).

POINT III

DEFENDANT FAILED TO PRESERVE ANY ARGUMENT CONCERNING THE VALIDITY OF HIS CONSENT TO SEARCH THE VEHICLE IN THE TRIAL COURT AND HAS THUS WAIVED ITS CONSIDERATION ON APPEAL; AS FOR DEFENDANT'S ADDITIONAL ALLEGATIONS OF TAINT, HE HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED THAT EITHER THE DETENTION OR THE PROTECTIVE FRISK WERE ILLEGAL; THUS, NEITHER THE STATE NOR THIS COURT NEED ENGAGE IN A TAINT ANALYSIS

In Point III of his brief defendant asserts that contraband discovered inside in his vehicle was illegally seized (Br. of App. at 18). In so arguing, defendant primarily asserts that his consent to search the vehicle was not sufficiently attenuated from the officer's previous "illegal seizure of the controlled substances from his front pocket" (Br. of App. at 18). Additionally, defendant asserts that contraband found in his vehicle "was discovered as a result of exploitation of the illegal detention and search of [his] person" (Br. of App. at 18). Because defendant failed to preserve any argument concerning the validity of his consent to search the vehicle in the trial court and because he has not demonstrated that the detention or the protective frisk were illegal, this Court should reject both arguments.

A. Waiver of Consent Issue

Defendant filed a motion to suppress the physical evidence against him in the trial court, broadly alleging that the contraband had been illegally seized under the fourth

amendment and article I, section 14 of the state constitution (R. 17; see Addendum A). In his supporting memorandum defendant cursorily relied on Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963), and Sibron v. New York, 392 U.S. 40 (1968), to allege that contraband "found in [his] vehicle [was] fruit discovered from the previous illegal search of [his] person and should be excluded" (R. 18-28, 26; see Addendum A). He made no argument challenging the validity of the alleged consent search of the vehicle (R. 18-28, see Addendum A).

Defendant's oral argument on the matter was similarly devoid of any meaningful analysis concerning his argument under Wong Sun and Sibron. Rather, defendant merely concluded that "the second baggy [sic] obviously came from exploitation of . . . an illegal search and seizure which led to its finding after the wrongful taking of the first one" (T. 42; see Addendum A). Additionally, like his memorandum, defendant's oral argument was bereft of any challenge to the validity of his consent to search the vehicle (T. 38-42, see Addendum A).

On appeal to this Court defendant asserts for the first time that contraband discovered inside his vehicle was illegally seized because his consent to search the vehicle was not sufficiently attenuated from the officer's "illegal detention and search of [his] person" (Br. of App. at 18). Defendant's complete failure to develop this argument in the trial court constitutes a waiver of its consideration on appeal. State v. Price, 827 P.2d 247, 248 n.2 (Utah App. 1992); State v.

Archambeau, 820 P.2d 920, 922 (Utah App. 1992); State v. Carter, 707 P.2d 656, 660-61 (Utah 1985). The fourth amendment law recited in defendant's brief was available for presentation in the trial court; moreover, the record fails to indicate any reason for defendant's failure to develop the argument below. Absent special justification for failing to present all available grounds in support of a suppression motion, this Court will not rule on those grounds not addressed in the trial court. Ibid.

B. No Necessity for Taint Analysis

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